Maintenance Working Group Report to the Manila Forum of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council







World Health Organization
Operation and Maintenance Working Group
Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council

Geneva 1997

 $\mathcal{L}ibrary$

IRC International Water and Sanitation Centre

Operation and Maintenance Working **Group Report** to the Manila Forum of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council







World Health Organization Operation and Maintenance Working Group Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council

Geneva 1997

LIBRARY IRC PO Box 93190, 2509 AD THE HAGUE

Fax: +31 70 35 899 64

BARCODE: 14 3/6

1 WSSCCQZ

© World Health Organization

This document is not issued to the general public, and all rights are reserved by the World Health Organization (WHO). The document may not be reviewed, abstracted, quoted, reproduced or translated, in part or in whole, without the prior written permission of WHO. No part of this document may be stored in a retrieval system or transmitted in any form or by any means — electronic, mechanical or other without the prior written permission of WHO.

The views expressed in documents by named authors are solely the responsibility of those authors.

Contents

Pa	age
Acknowledgements	. v
Preface	vii
1. Background	. 1
2. Purpose and Objectives of the Group	. 2
3. Concepts of operation and maintenance	3
4. Activities and Outputs	. 4
5. Assessment of the OMWG	. 7
6. Decentralization of the OMWG into a Network	
7. Promotion of O&M	11
8. Future Activities	
9. Recommendations	14
Annex I	
Core Group	15
Annex II	
O&M Network	17
Annex III	
Progress report	26
Development and Distribution of Tools	27
Regional and Country-Level Activities	
Involvement of Training Centres in O&M Activities	
Working Group Operations	

·		
·		

Acknowledgements

The Coordinator and members of the Operation and Maintenance Working Group would like to thank all those who have contributed over the past years to the development of tools and the application of sound management practices aimed at the sustainability of water supply and sanitation systems in developing countries.

Special mention should be made of the contribution of the Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Italy and the Swiss Development Cooperation (SDC) in sponsoring generously the different activities of the Group, especially the development of tools (manuals, training packages, guidelines, etc.) and their application at country level. Thanks also to the World Bank, DGIS, IRC, California State University, DNA (Maputo, Mozambique), DGIS, ONEP, UNDP/World Bank Program, WEDC, World Plumbing Council, The Centre for Health and Population (Bangladesh), WHO, The Institute of Public Health (Japan), GTZ, Compagnie Générale des Eaux, National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection (Netherlands), Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Italy, SKAT, and many other agencies which released their staff to participate in this process as members of the Group.

The coordinator and members of the Operation and Maintenance Working Group would also like to express their appreciation to Mr Malcolm Farley who prepared this report and acted as rapporteur of the meetings of the Group and to Mr Ranjith Wirasinha, Executive Secretary of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council, for his continuing support to this important process.

Finally, the work of the members of the Core Group should be acknowledged. The hard work of the Core Group's members has been the main driving force that has led to substantial and relevant inputs into the water supply and sanitation sector and was decisive for the major shift of priority which took place in recent years from construction and rehabilitation of works to the inclusion of operation, maintenance and management concerns in development projects.

·			
		·	

Preface

The Operation and Maintenance Working Group of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council has achieved most of its objectives and targets over the past years. The work of the Group has focused primarily on both the promotion of operation and maintenance and the development of tools covering different aspects of optimization and sustainability of water supply and sanitation facilities.

The Group is now seeking strategies and mechanisms to further promote these tools and have them extensively used by external support agencies and water supply and sanitation agencies. The discussion of this issue at Group meetings led to two major lines of action. First, it was decided that an assessment of the performance of the Operation and Maintenance Working Group be conducted with a view to optimizing its operations and making the most of resources available within the Group and outside it. Secondly, it was agreed that the Group should orient its future work through a decentralized framework in which key regional or subregional agencies would play a major role in disseminating and applying operation and maintenance tools.

On another note, it is important to highlight the success of the Group's new strategy whereby meetings are now organized back-to-back with national or regional operation and maintenance workshops. With this new approach, the momentum created by an Operation and Maintenance Working Group meeting is used to launch a major national or regional initiative on this issue. The National Workshop on Operation and Maintenance of Urban and Rural Water Supply and Sanitation Systems held in New Delhi from 25 to 27 September 1996 is a very successful example of this new strategy.

For the next few years, the Group will work intensively towards identifying key regional and national institutions interested in conducting operation and maintenance activities on behalf of the Group. The consolidation of this transfer of responsibility to partner institutions which are closer to the ultimate target audience of this work, namely the water supply and sanitation agencies at country level, will require the active and decisive support of the Council's members.

1. Background

The background to the formation of the Operation and Maintenance Working Group (OMWG) has been well documented in previous reports. However, for the sake of completeness, background is repeated here, updated to the present.

At its meeting in Oslo in 1991, the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council included the Group as one of its seven affiliated working groups. The OMWG's mandate was to promote and facilitate cooperation between external support agencies and developing countries, enabling them to develop tools and methodologies for the formulation, implementation, monitoring and evaluation of programmes to improve their operation and maintenance (O&M) procedures. This would in turn optimize the efficiency of water supply and sanitation services. Since the Oslo meeting the Group has met annually, issuing proceedings of each meeting.

At its meeting in September 1993 in Rabat, the Council recognized that the OMWG had a role of continuing importance to play, and decided that it should be extended as a mandated working group until the meeting of the Council in Barbados in October/November 1995. At that meeting the mandate was extended for a further two years. It will again be reviewed at the next Council meeting, to be held in Manila, in November 1997. The Group's milestones are listed below:

- Group launched during a meeting of external support agencies, The Hague, Netherlands, November 1988;
- ♦ Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 19-22 June 1990;
- Meeting on O&M, parallel to the meeting of the Council and external support agencies, New Delhi, India, September 1990;
- Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 26 February 1 March, 1991;
- ♦ Meeting on O&M at the Global Forum of the Council, Oslo, Norway, September 1991 (start of the official relationship with the Council);
- ♦ Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 1-5 June 1992;
- Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 1-4 June 1993;
- Special session on O&M at the meeting of the Council, Rabat, September 1993;
- ♦ Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 31 May 3 June 1994;
- Meeting of the Group, Geneva, 30 May 1 June 1995;

- ♦ Special session on O&M at the meeting of the Council, Barbados, November 1995;
- Meeting of the Core Group, Geneva, 26-29 February 1996;
- ♦ National Workshop and Meeting of the Group, New Delhi, 23-24 September 1996;
- ♦ Meeting of the Core Group, Geneva, February 1997.

2. Purpose and Objectives of the OMWG

The key constraints that are directly related to the performance of O&M, and to the efficiency and effectiveness of water supply and sanitation services have also been documented in previous reports. They are:

- inadequate data;
- insufficient and inefficient use of funds;
- poor management of water supply facilities;
- ♦ inappropriate system design;
- ♦ low profile;
- inadequate policies and legal frameworks;
- overlapping responsibilities;
- political interference.

The OMWG's purpose is to address these constraints and, as a response to the demand generated within the water supply and sanitation sector, the Group has developed certain tools to do so. The tools, which are described in Section 4, are intended to support water supply and sanitation agencies and external support agencies whose responsibilities include the task of promoting and implementing programmes to improve the efficiency and effectiveness of water supply and sanitation services through better management practice and improved O&M.

As a strategy for developing tools the Group initiated activities under four main priority headings:

- policy formulation, collaboration and coordination;
- raising the profile of O&M at global and national levels;
- management improvement;
- O&M data collection and monitoring.

During the meeting of the Council at Rabat in September 1993, it was agreed that testing, adjusting, application and use of the tools should be given special emphasis during the coming years. This has continued and, since that meeting, many of the tools have been disseminated — indeed several tools have been in use for a considerable time.

3. Concepts of operation and maintenance

The OMWG's scope of work is being continuously revised to accommodate new concepts such as decentralization and networking, and new issues such as community management and private sector involvement. The list of priority issues that was prepared by the Group in 1991 has been updated to address new concepts and issues.

The four overriding principles for guiding the development of operation and maintenance, which have been adopted by the Group, can be summarized as follows:

- The provision of safe water is a service and requires a service-oriented attitude by the agencies involved. To ensure long-term sustainability, water should be managed as a commodity in the same way as any other resource. Its use and exploitation should have a financially sound and cost-effective basis, and should be subject to the same legal and regulatory controls as other resources, in order to ensure its conservation, protection and wise utilization.
- ♦ The supply of water and the provision of sanitation services should normally be based on the principle of effective demand, which can be defined as the standard of service that the users are willing to finance, operate and maintain to ensure adequate public health standards. Effective demand has to satisfy the priorities of the community at large.
- ♦ Water supply and sanitation systems should be managed and operated in accordance with the principles of good business practice. The form of management will vary according to the local situation (e.g. rural, urban, semi-urban, location, demographic

structure etc.). The responsible agency will be autonomous from government but will manage the system according to technical, financial and administrative guidelines set by national governments. The agency will be transparent and fully accountable to its consumers.

♦ Sanitation is recognized as an undervalued item in the sector. There is a need for emphasis on sanitation development and on forging close links between water supply and environmental sanitation (solid and liquid waste management) in the planning of new programmes.

The Group also recognizes, however, the legitimate concerns of government to satisfy the basic needs of the disadvantaged segments of their population. Governments may require agencies to provide services at lifeline tariffs for such groups, or may institute temporary subsidies to promote public health and economic development

4. Activities and Outputs

The OMWG has been active in preparing a number of tools which include guidelines, manuals and training packages. While most of these tools have been fully developed and tested, others are still in various stages of preparation. One of the important features of the Group's progress since the last Council report has been the dissemination of tools at national and regional workshops. The principal tools are:¹

Selected case studies on operation and maintenance of water supply and sanitation systems

Group members have produced 22 case studies describing their experience of different O&M projects and concepts. The studies have been compiled in one document which has been distributed to interested agencies.

Tools for assessment of operation and maintenance status of urban and rural water supply and sanitation

Developed as a response to the lack of sufficient guidelines for assessing O&M services in both urban and rural areas, this tool combines a literature and information database with a methodology for assessing O&M status. The tool has been tested by the World Bank in West Africa. A module on sanitation is to be prepared.

Operation and maintenance of urban water supply and sanitation systems: a guide for managers

This document examines the factors that may prevent systems from working efficiently and provides guidelines and solutions for optimization. The guide was published in 1994 as

¹ Further information on these documents can be obtained from the Secretariat of the Operation and Maintenance Working Group, Division of Operational Support in Environmental Health, World Health Organization, 1211 Geneva 27 (Fax: 41 22 791 0746).

an official WHO publication and its distribution has been intensified. The document has been translated into French (official translation) and Portuguese.

Training course package in leakage control

This training and resource package provides another link in the chain of system optimization. It adopts a logical and "user-friendly" approach to training water practitioners at a range of levels, from senior managers to leak inspectors. The content of each module can be varied according to the depth of knowledge required for particular levels of trainee. The package has been reviewed by experts and is now in the final stage of printing and distribution.

Manual on upgrading of water treatment plants

A practical approach to the improvement of water treatment plant performance, this document summarizes field experience in upgrading and improving a wide range of water treatment plants in developing countries. The guidelines show how both capacity and water quality of plants can be improved. A third draft has been prepared and is being reviewed prior to publication.

Training course package on management of operation and maintenance of rural water supply and sanitation

This is the most well developed of the tools; it has now been tested at several national workshops, both by Group members and local agencies. The package provides hands-on material for conducting a course. The material can be adapted to local situations and makes use of local resource persons. A French version is available and a Portuguese version is in first draft.

Characterization and evaluation of models of management systems for the operation and maintenance of rural water supply and sanitation facilities

This document evaluates the factors which influence the development of O&M management systems for rural water supply and sanitation facilities in developing countries. It describes models in eight representative countries and offers guidance to planners and designers in selecting the most appropriate one. The document has been developed by EHP (USAID/WASH) and revised by selected members of the OMWG. A French version is available and a Portuguese version is planned.

Linking technology choice with operation and maintenance for low-cost water supply and sanitation

This tool aims to inform users of the O&M implications, including cost factors, of selecting a particular water supply and sanitation technology. The document has been printed and is now in process of distribution. A Portuguese version is in preparation.

Manual on field network survey

This is a new activity, for which terms of reference have been prepared. The Group's aim is to prepare a manual on measurement and monitoring techniques for use in the field, in order to better understand how a network operates. As with all the tools produced by the Group, this will be part of an integrated package of tools to improve operation and maintenance and optimize the performance of water supply and sanitation systems.

Manual on operation and maintenance of handpumps

A manual giving guidance on the O&M of handpumps — including technology choice, costs, spares etc. — is being prepared by SKAT in partnership with the OMWG.

The OMWG has also conducted or coordinated a number of regional and country activities. These have included national and regional workshops to promote O&M, and support to national and regional agencies in setting up training centres for O&M activities. One example of a national workshop was the one held in New Delhi, in September 1996, immediately following the meeting of the OMWG. The aim of the workshop was to bring the expertise of Group members directly to the Indian water sector. Two separate workshops were held — one for urban and one for rural practitioners. The workshops had a high profile; they were aimed at senior decision-makers and were attended by key persons from each state. It was agreed that the workshops were timely and there was a high level of enthusiasm from participants. One of the key features of the success of the workshops was the high degree of preparatory work and the use of professional facilitators during each working group session. Both workshops led to specific recommendations being made. These included one on the setting up of two national task forces for O&M, which was accepted at national government level.

Another major feature of the Group's activities is the provision of support to training establishments. Examples of this are:

- ♦ courses for the training of trainers in O&M at the training centre of the National Directorate of Water Affairs (DNA) in Mozambique (A recurrent training course on the management of rural water supply and sanitation systems has been established for the African lusophone countries under the auspices of the Government of Mozambique through DNA, with financial support from the Swiss Development Cooperation. Courses on leakage control and the management of urban systems are being organized by the same institution with the assistance of the OMWG);
- training courses on rural water supply and sanitation for francophone Africa conducted regularly by the IRC in partnership with the Ecole Inter Etats Techniciens Superieurs de l'Hydraulique et de l'Equipement Rural (EIER), Ouagadougou, Burkina Faso;
- courses on leakage control and the management of rural water supply and sanitation for trainers at ONEP in Morocco, in partnership with the French Cooperation. Courses will be offered to African countries.

These activities are listed and described more fully in Annex III.

Other initiatives activated by the OMWG include:

- assessment of the Group's activities and effectiveness;
- decentralization of the Group and creation of an O&M network;
- promotion of O&M by means of posters, a document for policy-makers, and publicity material for the O&M tools.

These initiatives are described below.

5. Assessment of the OMWG

The OMWG has agreed that, as sector requirements evolve (e.g. private sector involvement), so the Group's scope is evolving too. An evaluation of the scope of work and past activities and an assessment of planned future operations are therefore required to give the Group a new focus and direction based on experience to date.

The aims of the assessment would be:

- to review what has been achieved;
- to assess the scope of the work and the tools produced;
- to assess the impact made by the tools;
- to re-think the scope of work.

The assessment should emphasize the future of the OMWG, bringing its activities in line with sector development and the recommendations of the last Council meeting in Barbados.

It was emphasized that the assessment procedure should be positive and forward-looking, and should not slow the pace of implementation of tools at country level.

The assessment was a major item on the agenda of the OMWG meeting in New Delhi, where it was discussed in working group sessions. To assist these discussions, certain preparatory material was produced, namely:

- ♦ a framework TOR for assessment;
- a discussion document describing past activities and their impact.

Following the working group debate, recommendations were discussed in plenary and then referred to the meeting of the Core Group in February 1997.

Prior to the Core Group meeting a questionnaire was prepared for distribution to water utilities and the users of the tools — the clients of the OMWG — and the first step was to identify institutions that have used the tools.

The Core Group concluded that the assessment is a necessary stage of the OMWG's evolutionary process, and is an opportunity both to look back at the past 10 years and to look forward to the future. It was agreed that the assessment should:

- be linked to the promotion of tools;
- evaluate what has been produced, not the work of the OMWG;
- gauge how successful the OMWG has been as a guide for future direction.

A questionnaire would be designed which should:

- ♦ be limited to a "client satisfaction" survey;
- ♦ be sent to all OMWG members;
- be sent to a sample of clients who have used the tools;
- ♦ be applied at the GTZ/OMWG workshop in Namibia in May 1997.

An action plan for carrying out the assessment was agreed, as follows:

- ♦ the OMWG's track record would be assessed in terms of its promotion of O&M, the number of its outputs and the number of its contacts;
- the OMWG's impact would be measured by client satisfaction;
- the O&M needs would be assessed as perceived by beneficiaries.

Preliminary findings, which will include the assessment process and planning, will be presented to the Council meeting in Manila. The assessment methodology will include the questionnaire sent to OMWG members and a sample of clients. Results will be based on a data collection desk study and limited discussions with members of interest groups such as producers of tools.

6. Decentralization of the OMWG into a network

The Group acknowledges that its activities and the tools it has produced are being well received. The Group's efforts to promote O&M and to support the implementation of the tools at national and regional levels have been very successful. Indeed, demand for the tools is increasing. It is this demand that has led to some difficulties with the existing arrangements for dissemination of the tools. With increased promotional activity the need has arisen for faster response in responding to requests.

The Group believes that the clients' requests for tools will be best serviced by decentralizing the OMWG into a network. At the OMWG meeting in New Delhi, members were asked to consider the strengths and weaknesses of three options:

Option 1 - The present setup. This is a centralized system with WHO headquarters at the core. All activities are organized and controlled by the OMWG and its secretariat in Geneva, which disseminates tools to regional training centres, and which also initiates implementation of projects at country level.

Option 2 - One activity per site. This option proposes a centralized activity centre for each activity, with Geneva as the administrative core. Each activity centre could be located anywhere in the world.

Option 3 - Task forces at several regional sites, each covering a range of activities. This option would retain a strong Group secretariat at the core, but not necessarily in Geneva, with regional centres and resource centres radiating from the hub. There would be an initial stage and a final stage, during which strong links would be increasingly forged between the regional centres, and with the resource centres.

Working groups considered each of these three options. The general aim of the discussions was to ensure the sustainability of the OMWG and to ensure that it reaches its objectives. The working groups were asked to;

- specify the advantages and disadvantages of each option;
- ♦ identify aspects (e.g. financial, political) of each option;
- ♦ add proposals for modification;
- produce a layout of the preferred design.

The strengths of Option 1 were its global vision, simplicity and informality, with little bureaucracy, relatively low cost, and no need to increase capacity. However, its weaknesses were felt to include low visibility and remoteness from the action, with low capacity for interaction with field activities and local experts.

Option 2 was found to be unworkable and was modified by the working group which suggested a global forum at the highest level, carrying out monitoring and providing feedback to and from a central OMWG. The existing secretariat would be retained and would have a strong facilitating role with regional and country partners. A further tier would be a partnership of regional and country institutions, each distributing the Group's tools.

Option 3 implies the formation of a number of decentralized institutions, each responsible for product delivery, forming a bridge between WHO headquarters and activities at country level. The new setup would utilize existing structures and links while acknowledging the autonomy of network partners. Governance would be by a forum, and leadership by a core group and secretariat.

The results of the working group discussions at the New Delhi meeting were circulated to OMWG members, and the issue was debated at the Core Group meeting in February 1997. The preferred option was a model with a strong OMWG core but also with strong interlinked regional centres. The OMWG would initiate the transfer of materials and ideas via a task force.

The OMWG believes that the elements to be considered in a model of decentralization include:

- ♦ a high-level global forum to act as governance;
- ♦ a secretariat based in Geneva, but possibly rotated;
- ♦ an O&M core group;
- training institutes such as ONEP and DNA;
- ♦ technical resource centres;
- ♦ a consultative group;
- regional centres, such as focal O&M centres and centres of excellence;
- ♦ country O&M centres;
- ♦ a decentralization task force.

The OMWG made the following suggestions:

- the responsibilities of the OMWG core group need to be reviewed and updated;
- promotional work needs to be carried out with institutions to find out their resources, technical competence and areas of expertise;
- ♦ ITNs in developing countries are well qualified to be support agencies.

The OMWG should not strictly follow one model, but should be demand-driven - i.e. the OMWG should support any group that is willing to become a support centre.

A strong core group and secretariat still have major roles in the decentralization process both for introducing changes in O&M and for developing policies and strategies. Rotation of the secretariat could be considered if a viable alternative were offered.

There is a need to create awareness of the OMWG within agencies, and strategies are needed to encourage institutions to become decentralized support centres.

Agencies that enter into an agreement should have credibility, interest and commitment. There must be a mechanism for approving of agencies that apply. The criteria for selecting suitable agencies are as follows:

- willingness to enter into an informal agreement (e.g. an expansion of the role of WHO Collaborating Centres);
- capability to raise sufficient financial resources;
- well established with suitable expertise;
- ability to prepare an action plan and commitment to implement it within a four-year time scale.

Dissemination of documents is also to be considered, particularly with regard to whether they should be free or should be sold to recover costs. In this connection:

- any agency that takes on dissemination of documents should consider the cost of production and postage;
- it is difficult to identify institutions within the membership of the OMWG. National workshops are the best means of identifying local agencies and donors for document production and dissemination that could be paid for out of project funds.

The tools are the copyright of WHO. This enables WHO to distribute the tools and materials to agencies for printing and distribution. The present financial commitment by WHO to comply with requests from agencies is unsustainable. A mechanism is needed to deal with future requests for multiple copies.

An active network of contact organizations and experts is already being coordinated by the OMWG. This has been invaluable in assisting the preparation, testing and dissemination of tools to date. However, it was felt by the Group that to fulfil its objectives of decentralized dissemination of tools the network should be expanded and its database operated and maintained by an external agency. This would allow dissemination to take place in a systematic and sustainable manner. The members of the network will be interlinked through a computerized information system containing the different categories of membership of the network. These are:

- ♦ a consultative group, comprising professionals who deal with O&M issues and who are potential users of the tools;
- ♦ the OMWG, comprising around 30 experts representing ESAs and WSS agencies in developing countries;
- the OMWG Core Group, comprising a small group of OMWG members who are responsible for putting into action the recommendations of the Consultative Group and the OMWG.

7. Promotion of O&M

WHO has been assisting the Group to develop a strategy for promoting O&M and for creating awareness of the Group's tools and activities.

The strategy requirements are:

- definition of objectives;
- ♦ definition of target audience;
- understanding the target audience.

The aim of the strategy is:

- to develop promotional messages for motivating change;
- to devise ways of reaching the target audience;
- ♦ to ensure that the strategy works.

Problems with promoting O&M that have been identified are:

- ♦ barriers to awareness and understanding, which give O&M a low priority;
- ♦ a low level of interest, tending to leave O&M to "experts";
- ♦ O&M is not prestigious;
- a misconception that O&M is only about "fixing".

The promotional strategy therefore aims to break down these barriers and reach the primary target audience (policy-makers) and secondary target audience (project managers) with appropriate material that is suited to each group. It aims to attract attention and illustrate the benefits of O&M.

To support this strategy a promotional toolkit has been developed by WHO. It consists of a double-pocket folder containing:

- ♦ a leaflet for policy-makers;
- individual leaflets for each tool (five have been prepared so far);
- ♦ two posters;
- other materials of relevance to specific target audiences.

Other suggestions made by the OMWG in connection with the toolkit include:

- creation of separate toolkits for policy-makers and project managers;
- ♦ development 10-15 key messages of good O&M policy, for inclusion in the folders;
- highlighting urban and rural concepts and distinguishing them in the key messages;
- the need to develop a dissemination strategy.

The members of the OMWG at the New Delhi meeting suggested that the OMWG should be careful in promoting the use of training packages without placing conditions on their use or dissemination. The Group has also recommended that the promotional toolkits should be distributed at the WSSCC meeting in Manila.

8. Future Activities

Until now the work of the OMWG has been to promote best O&M practice by organizing regional or national seminars and workshops and by developing, promoting and disseminating tools. The focus of the Group's activities in the future will be to develop a more proactive role in the application of the tools. This will be done by collaborating with national and regional agencies that wish to implement training packages and pilot studies within their projects.

While some of the tools are fully developed and are being used by client organizations, others are still in the final stages of development. One of the Group's tasks in the coming year will be to finalize these tools. This may involve testing and reviewing certain tools, converting manuals into training packages, and translating tools — some of which are already available in French, Spanish and Portuguese — into other languages.

As the focus of the sector evolves, so the Group must be prepared to evolve too. The assessment of the Group's activities, and the findings regarding its successes and failures, will guide the direction the Group will take in the coming years. This will inevitably include the development of new tools. At the Council meeting in Barbados in 1995, it was recommended that the Group should develop several new tools to complement existing ones in order to reflect this changing focus and needs of the sector. These new tools are:

- guidelines to assist the management of asset-holding companies in monitoring the performance of private sector O&M contractors;
- ♦ guidelines for O&M in rural sectors under private management;
- a guide to the preparation of O&M manuals for use by managers and staff of water agencies;
- training packages for equipment, and guidelines for the development of training packages relating to O&M equipment, spares, stock systems etc.
- guides for O&M in sewerage, sanitation and drainage.

These recommendations were discussed at the New Delhi meeting of the OMWG, and at the Core Group meeting in February 1997. Many manuals and guidelines are already available and it was suggested that a first step should be to review these. Members also offered help in compiling guidelines for private sector involvement. Other OMWG members offered to contribute documents and case study material.

A consultative group of OMWG volunteers is required to review existing documents on best practice and to decide which should be included in an OMWG "catalogue". Each entry in the catalogue will have a brief descriptive paragraph. IRC will draw up a proposal for the preparation of the catalogue, which will be presented to the Manila meeting.

One of the most effective means of encouraging the formation of national O&M programmes is to combine the annual OMWG meeting with a national workshop. This was done in New Delhi in 1996, when national workshops on urban and rural water supply and sanitation were held following the OMWG meeting. As the OMWG meeting was attended by Indian representatives, this became a catalyst for motivating the discussion at the national workshops. A direct outcome of the workshops was the setting up of national task forces to activate O&M in both urban and rural WSS sectors. The Group has decided that this should be the pattern of future OMWG meetings and some suitable venues for 1998 were proposed at the last meeting of the OMWG Core Group.

The Group intends to continue to pursue the decentralization and to support the creation of an O&M network.

9. Recommendations

The future activities of the Group, as listed in Section 7, demonstrate its evolution from operating in a highly centralized manner to identifying regional or national institutions that would take over many of the activities currently conducted by the Group's secretariat. The OMWG is clearly at a crucial stage of its development. It will need support from the Council to complete this major task of transferring responsibilities to potential collaborating institutions.

It is therefore recommended that, in the interests of the continuance of O&M best practice and in view of the need to complete the process of decentralization, the WSSCC should mandate the Group for a further two years.

Annex I

Core Group

Mr M. Alvarinho

Sector Coordination Adviser, National Directorate for Water Affairs, Maputo, Mozambique

Mr W. Ankersmit

Ministry of Foreign Affairs, DGIS/DST/TA, The Hague, Netherlands

Mr Abdelali Filali Baba

Director of Post Evaluation, Office National de l'Eau Potable, 6 bis rue Patrice Lumumba, Rabat, Morocco

Dr Robert Boydell

Regional Manager, UNDP/World Bank Joint Program, Regional Water and Sanitation Group for East Asia & the Pacific, Jakarta, Indonesia

Mr F. Brikké

IRC, International Water & Sanitation Centre, The Hague, Netherlands

Mr A. Cotton

Urban Programmes Director, Water, Engineering and Development Centre - WEDC, Loughborough University of Technology, United Kingdom

Mr M. Farley

Malcolm Farley Associates, The Firs, Station Road, Alvescot, Bampton, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom

Mr I. Fraser

Vice-Chairman, World Plumbing Council, 100 Franham Road, Lynnwood Manor 0081, Pretoria, South Africa

Dr Bilqis Amin Hoque

Head, Environmental Health Programme, The Centre for Health and Population, 1/7 Block E, Lalmatia, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Mr J.A. Hueb

Coordinator, Operation and Maintenance Working Group, World Health Organization, Geneva, Switzerland

Mr Jan G. Janssens

The World Bank, 1818 H. Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20433, United States of America

Professor K. Kerri

Office of Water Programs, California State University, Sacramento, United States of America

Dr Yasumoto Magara

Director of Sanitary Engineering, The Institute of Public Health, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Tokyo, Japan

Mr P. Marchandise

WHO/EURO European Centre for Environment and Health, Vandoeuvre, France

Dr Harry McPherson

H.J. McPherson, Department of Water Affairs for Community Involvement, (GTZ), Windhoek, Namibia

Mr M. Rapinat

Compagnie Générale des Eaux, Paris la Défense Cedex, France

Mr H. P. J. van Schaik

National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection, Bureau for International Cooperation, Bilthoven, Netherlands

Mr Andrea Senatori

Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Italy, Central Technical Unit for Cooperation and Development, Rome, Italy

Mr K. Wehrle

SKAT, Swiss Centre for Development, Cooperation in Technology and Management, St Gallen, Switzerland

Mr F. Zawide

WHO Regional Adviser, Brazzaville, Congo

Annex II

O&M Network

Dr Y. Abdallah

Centre for Environmental Studies, University of Khartoum, Sudan

Mr Alex Kenya Abiko

Professor, University of São Paulo, Av. Prof. Almeida, Prado, São Paulo, Brazil

Mr Raquel Alfaro

EMOS - Chile, Santiago Water & Sanitation Company, Avenida Bulnes 129, Santiago, Chile

Mr Lineu Rodrigues Alonso

Departamento de Aguas e Energia Elétrica, Rua do Riachuelo Nº 115 - 4º andar, São Paulo, Brazil

Mr Manuel Alvarinho

National Directorate for Water Affairs, Department of Water Supply and Sanitation, P.O. Box 1611, Maputo, Mozambique

Mr Willem Ankersmit

Sector Specialist - Sanitation, Ministry of Foreign Affairs - DGIS/DST/TA, The Hague, Netherlands

Ms Dianne D. Arboleda

United Nations Volunteers, Social Work and Community Development, c/o UNDP, 4/F UN Bldg., I4 J1, Thamrin, Jakarta 10240, Indonesia

Mr Teofilo Asuncion

MWSS, Quezon City, Metro Manila, Philippines

Mr Abdelali Filali Baba

Director of Post Evaluation, Office National de l'Eau Potable, 6 bis rue Patrice Lumumba, Rabat, Morocco

Mr Sa'ad Bakri

Director of Water Directorate, Water Authority, P.O. Box 2412, Amman, Jordan

Mr Tenthani Israel Banda

Water Supply Manager, Lusaka Water and Sewerage Company, P.O. Box 50198 15101 Ridgeway, Lusaka, Zambia

Mr J. Bartram

European Centre for Environment and Health, World Health Organization, Rome, Italy

Dr A. Basaran

WHO Regional Office for the Western Pacific, Manila, Philippines

Mr Erich Baumann

SKAT, Swiss Centre for Development, Cooperation in Technology and Management, St Gallen, Switzerland

Dr Robert Boydell

Regional Manager, UNDP/World Bank Joint Program, Regional Water and Sanitation Group for East Asia & the Pacific, Jakarta, Indonesia

Mr François Brikké

Research Officer, International Water & Sanitation Centre, IRC, The Hague, Netherlands

Dr Charoen Bunchandranon

Asian Development Bank, Metro Manila, Philippines

Mr Albert Burgi

Programme Coordinator, Swiss Association for Development and Cooperation, Zurich, Switzerland

Mr Sergio Caporali

Director, Centro Panamericano de Ingeneria Sanitaria y Ciencias Del Ambiente, CEPIS, Lima, Peru

Mr Guy Carrier

Senior Adviser/Civil Engineer, Water and Sanitation Policy Branch, Canadian International Development Agency, 200 Promenade du Portage, Hull, Quebec, KIA 0G4, Canada

Mr Gerardo Galvis Castano

Centro interegional de Abastecimiento y Remoción de Agua (CINARA), Universidad del Valle, Facultad de Ingenieria A.A., 25157 Cali, Colombia

Ing. Alejando Castro

Director Ejecutivo, Associación Andina de Empresas e Instituciones de Servicio de Agua Potable y Saneamiento, Edf. EMAP-Q, Of. 503, Av. Mariana de Jesus, Quito, Ecuador

Mr N.L.B. Chaya

Ministry of Works, Chief Civil Engineer Construction, Malawi

Mr Fengshu Chen

Division Chief and Senior Engineer for Water Supply Department, Ministry for Water Res., Beijing, China

Dr Andrew Cotton

Urban Programmes Director, Water, Engineering and Development Centre - WEDC, Department of Civil Engineering, Loughborough University of Technology, United Kingdom

Mr Chuanpit Dhamarisi

Metropolitan Waterworks Authority, NWA-Siyak Mansri, Bangkok, Thailand

Mr M.F. Djerrari

Water Utility Partnership for Capacity Building in Africa, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

Mr M.B. Doyle

Senior Project Officer, Water and environmental Sanitation Cluster, UNICEF, New York, United States of America

Mr Hansjorg Drews

Planning Engineer, Department of Water Affairs/GTZ, Windhoek, Namibia

Mr Ratnakar Dutta

Director General, Dept. of Water Supply & Sewerage, Panipokhari, Kathmandu, Nepal

Mr A. Dzikus

UNCHS (HABITAT), Nairobi, Kenya

Mr Klaus Erbel

GTZ, Germany Agency for Technical Cooperation, Eschborn, Germany

Mr Patrick Faivre

Directeur au Affaires Internationales, NAN.C.I.E. Centre International de l'Eau de Nancy, France

Mr Malcolm Farley

Malcolm Farley Associates, The Firs, Station Road, Alvescot, Bampton, Oxfordshire, United Kingdom

Mr H. Farrer

Consultant, San José, Costa Rica

Mr Bent H. Fenger

Water & Wastes Scientist, WHO Regional Office for Europe, Copenhagen

Mr Lester Forde

Water & Sewer. Authority, Chief Engineer-Wastewater, Trinidad & Tobago

Mr I. Fraser

Vice-Chairman, World Plumbing Council, 100 Franham Road, Lynnwood Manor 0081, Pretoria, South Africa

Mr Franz Gahwiler

Swiss Centre for Development Cooperation, Technology and Management, St. Gallen, Switzerland

Mr Gourisankar Ghosh

UNICEF, New York, United States of America

Mr Pierre Giacasso

Directeur Service des Eaux, Service Industriels de Genève, Geneva, Switzerland

Mr Yannick Glemarec

Programme Officer, UNDP - Vietnam, c/o Palais des Nations, Geneva, Switzerland

Mr José Manuel González

Subdirector de Potabilización, Tratamiento de Aguas Residuales, Dirección Gen. de Construcción y Operación Hidraulica, Mexico

Mr Bruce Gross

The World Bank, 1818 H Street, N.W., Washington D.C. 20433, United States of America

Mr Shaikh Abdul Halim

Executive Director, Village Education Resources, Anandapur, Savar, Dhaka 1340, Bangladesh

Mr Harmon Hartman

SDC, Federal Dept. of Foreign Affairs, Technical Cooperation, Swiss Development Cooperation, Water and Infrastructure Service, Berne, Switzerland

Mr Frank Hartvelt

Deputy Director UNDP/DIGP, New York, United States of America

Dr Bilqis Amin Hoque

Head, Environmental Health Programme, The Centre for Health and Population, 1/7 Block E, Lalmatia, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Dr S. Iman

College of Business, Cal Poly University, Pomona, CA, United States of America

Mr Ivo Imparato

UNCHS (HABITAT), Nairobi, Kenya

Mr Birru Ittissa

Water Supply & Sewerage Authority, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Mr Jan G. Janssens

The World Bank, Washington, United States of America

Ms Janet Joy

WRc plc, Frankland Road, Blagrove, Swindon, United Kingdom

Mr John Kalbermatten

Consultant, Washington, United States of America

Mr Samuel Eugene Kena-Amoah

Regional Director, Ghana Water & Sewerage Corporation, GWSC, Koforidua, Ghana

Dr Kenneth D. Kerri

Professor of Civil Engineering, Office of Water Programs, California State University Sacramento, United States of America

Mr M.A. Khokhar

Director Maintenance, Water and Sanitation Agency, Lahore, Pakistan

Mr Chris King

Eldoret Municipal Council, Eldoret, Kenya

Mr Andrew Kirkwood

Project Manager/Engineer, Development Workshop, C.P. 3360, Luanda, Angola

Dr Hidetoshi Kitawaki,

Associate Professor, Department of Urban Engineering, University of Tokyo, Japan

Mr Eero Kontula

FINNIDA, Finland

Mr K. Kresse

Coordinator Sectorial, GTZ, San Jose, Costa Rica

Mr Mieke Leermakers

Programme Team Leader, Helvetas/Pokhara, Kathmandu, Nepal

Mr Hugues LeMasson

President, Sahel Aqua Viva, 13, Parc du Château, 78430 Louveciennes, France

Mr K.W. Lesaoana

Chief Engineer, Village Water Supply Department, Maseru, Lesotho

Dr Andrew Livingstone

Water, Sanitation, Health Sector Specialist, Tamale, Ghana

Mr Manoel Becerra Lizardi

Sub Director Commercial, Tijuana B.C., Mexico

Mr J. Lorentzen

UNCHS (HABITAT), Nairobi, Kenya

Mr Sowa Lukono

Director, Service National d'Hydraulique Rurale, Département de l'Agriculture, et Développement Rominantoire, Kinshasa, Democratic Republic of the Congo

Mr Guillermo Madariaga

GTZ Consultant, San José, Costa Rica

Dr Yasumoto Magara

Director of Sanitary Engineering, The Institute of Public Health, Ministry of Health & Welfare, Japan

Dr M. Mansour

Research Centre for Environment and Health, Institute of Ecological Chemistry, Neuherberg, Germany

Mr Patrick Marchandise

Project Manager, Water and Sanitation, Nancy Project Office, WHO European Centre for Environment and Health, Vandoeuvre Nancy, France

Mr Amo Mark

Engineering Manager, The Waterboard, P.O. Box 2779, Boroko, Papua New Guinee

Mr Charles Marville

Engineer, WASA, Barbados Water Authority, Barbados

Mr Mohamed Ahmed Marzouk

Chairman Alexandria Water General, Alexandria, Egypt

Mr S.P. Mathur

Project Officer, Water and Environmental Sanitation, UNICEF, Jakarta, Indonesia

Mr Christopher Matumbike

Ministry of Local Gorvernment, Harare, Zimbabwe

Mr A.C. McIntosh

Senior Project Engineer, Asian Development Bank, Manila, Philippines

Dr Harry McPherson

GTZ, Department of Water Affairs for Community Involvement, Windhoek, Namibia

Mr Nelson Medina

Director Operation and Maintenance, Instituto Nicaraguense de Adueductos, CAPRE, Managua, Nicaragua

Mr Kapizgapizga Mhango

Principal Sanitary Engineer, African Development Bank, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

Mr Muhammad Amin Mian

Managing Director, Water & Sanitation Agency, Faisalabad Development Agency, Faisalabad, Pakistan

Mr Arun Mudgal

Project Officer, UNDP/World Bank Water & Sanitation, New Delhi, India

Mr Mathew Mulipukwa

Ministry of Water, Lands and Natural Resources, Departement of Water, Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Belete Muluneh

Chief Engineer, Water Supply & Sewerage Authority, Addis Ababa, Ethiopia

Mr Rohit Mungra

Deputy General Manager, Central Water Authority, St. Paul, Phoenix, Mauritius

Ms Margaret Mwangola

Executive Director, Kenya Water for Health Organization (KWAHO), P.O. Box 40128, Nairobi, Kenya

Dr Eustace A. Nonis

Director, Agriculture & Social Sectors Dept, Asian Development Bank, Manila, Philippines

Dr I.L. Nyumbu

Consultant, Ministry of Water, Lusaka, Zambia

Mr Faith S. Oro

Consultant, Development Workshop, Ontario, Canada

Mr Ukatha Otiwani

The Water Board, Boroko, Papua New Guinea

Dr György Pinter

Deputy Director, WHO/UNDP Project, Institute for Water Pollution Control, VITUKI Water Resources Research Center, Budapest

Mr Jose Roxo Pires

Sanitary Engineer, Direcçao Geral do Turismo, Lisboa, Portugal

Mr Jan Carl Pospisilik

WHO/SEARO, Indraprastha Estate, Mahatma Gandhi Road, New Delhi 110002, India

Mr Dinesh C. Pyakural

Deputy Director General, Water Supply, Sewerage & Sanitation, Kathunandu, Nepal

Mr A. Koussai Quteisha

Secretary General Water Authority, Amman, Jordan

Mr M. Rapinat

Compagnie Générale des Eaux, Service Production, PARIS LA DEFENSE CEDEX, France

Mr S.M.A. Rashid

Director, NGO Forum for Drinking Water Supply and Sanitation, 4/6 Block-E, Lalmatia, Dhaka-1207, Bangladesh

Mr A. Redekopp,

World Health Organization, Dhaka, Bangladesh

Mr Gabriel Regallet

Senior Adviser, International Secretariat for Water, 157, rue Saint-Paul Ouest Bureau 106, Montréal, Québec H2Y 1Z5, Canada

Mr Gowreesunkur Rogbeer

Deputy General Manager, Central Water Authority, St. Paul, Phoenix, Mauritius

Mr Carel de Rooy

Regional Programme Officer, UNICEF, Abidjan, Côte d'Ivoire

Mr El Dine El Deeb Saad

Chairman, General Organization for Greater Cairo Water, Cairo, Egypt

Mr H. P. J. van Schaik

National Institute of Public Health and Environmental Protection, Bureau for International Cooperation, Bilthoven, Netherlands

Mr Roland Schertenleib

Director, International Reference Centre for Waste Duebendorf, Switzerland

Mr Andrea Senatori

Expert, Ministry of Foreign Affairs of Italy, Central Technical Unit for Cooperation and Development, Rome, Italy

Dr Kastriot Shehu

Director, HUK-Projekt(Hydraulics-Water Supply-Sewerage), Tirana, Albania

Mr Ryszard Skarbek

Project Manager, WHO/UNDP Project Office, Ministry of Environment Protection & Forestry, Warsaw, Poland

Mr Mike Slipper

Secretary General, International Water Supply Association (IWSA), London, United Kingdom

Mr Luis Carlos Rangel Soares

Sanitary Engineer, WHO Regional Office for the Americas/AMRO, Washington, D.C. United States of America

Mr Hans D. Spruijt

UNICEF, Guatemala

Ms Patricia Stabbins

Information Analyst, Umgeni Water, P.O. Box 9, Pietermaritzburg 3200, South Africa

Mr Tashi Tenzing

National Country Officer, Water and Sanitation Sector Development, Nepal

Dr Dennis B. Warner

Chief, Rural Environmental Health, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland

Mr Wehrle

SKAT, Swiss Centre for Development, Cooperation in Technology and Management, St Gallen, Switzerland

Mr Helmut Weidel

Project Director on Water Issues, Mountain Unlimited, Spiegelgasse 8, 1010 Vienna, Austria

Mr Hannu Wikman

Adviser, Ministry for Foreign Affairs, Dept. for International Development Cooperation, Katajanokanlaituri 3, 00160 Helsinki, Finland

Mr Ranjith Wirasinha

Executive Secretary, Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council, WHO, Geneva, Switzerland

Dr Melvin Woodhouse

Water Engineer, African Medical and Research Foundation, Nairobi, Kenya

Mr Xinyi Xu

Director, Department of Water Resources, China Institute of Water Resources and Hydropower Research, 20, Chegongrhuangxulu Street, Beijing, 100044, China

Mr George Yanore

Project Manager, Bolgatanga Community Water & Sanitation Project, Bolgatanga, Ghana

Mr Guillermo Yepes

Water/Sanitation Advisor, INUWS, The World Bank, Room S11-105, 1818 H. Street NW, Washington, DC 20433, USA

Mr Thongterm Yuktanuntana

Deputy Governor, Metropolitan Waterworks, Authority of Thailand, Bangkok, Thailand

Mr F. Zawide

WHO Regional Adviser, Brazzaville, Congo

Annex III

Operation and Maintenance Working Group

Progress Report

Development and Distribution of Tools

ACTIVITY	STATUS
Reprinting and distribution of the compendium of selected case studies on O&M of water supply and sanitation systems	Additional copies printed and distributed. WHO, Italy
Tools for assessment of operation and maintenance status of urban and rural water supply and sanitation	Module on water supply available (300 additional copies prepared). This module is being tested by the WB in West Africa. Module on sanitation still to be prepared. WHO, WB, WEDC
Operation and maintenance of urban water supply and sanitation systems: a guide for managers	Document prepared by WHO: distribution to be intensified. Document available through the publication department of WHO
Training course package on leakage control	Document published and printed and in process of distribution. WHO
Preparation of a manual on upgrading of water treatment plants	Final draft prepared. Document yet to be published, printed and distributed. WHO
Training course package on management of operation and maintenance of rural water supply and sanitation	Additional copies of the English version available. French version available. First draft of Portuguese version available. IRC, WHO, SDC, UNICEF, UNDP/WB, Italy, Dutch, GTZ (CAPRE), CEPIS
Characterization and evaluation of models of management systems for the operation and maintenance of rural water supply and sanitation facilities	Additional copies prepared and distributed. EHP, Italy, WHO
Manual on linking technology choice with operation and maintenance in the context of small community water supplies	Document printed and ready for distribution. Copies and distribution to be performed by the IRC on behalf of the OMWG. Translation into French, Spanish and Portuguese in preparation. IRC, DGIS, WHO
Manual on field network survey	Terms of reference prepared. Preparation of manual not yet started. WHO, Italy, DGIS, GTZ
Manual on operation and maintenance of handpumps	Document under preparation by SKAT in partnership with the Operation and Maintenance Working Group

Regional and Country-Level Activities - From June 1995

ACTIVITY	STATUS
Working group session at the meeting of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council, Barbados, November 1995	Barbados, November 1995 Session recommended the continuation of the Group in association with the WSSCC for the period 1995-1997
Participation of the OMWG's coordinator at the First Regional Meeting of the WSSCC for Latin America	Developed in Quito, Ecuador, 16-18 October 1996. Organized by the WSSCC in cooperation with PAHO/CEPIS, GTZ, CAPRE, ANDESAPA
Subregional workshop on operation, maintenance and management of O&M for the African lusophone countries	Maputo, Mozambique, 29-30 September 1995 SDC/SKAT, Italy, WHO
Regional workshop on strengthening leakage control programmes (Eastern Mediterranean Region)	Alexandria, 4-8 June 1995 WHO/EMRO
Regional workshop on management of urban water supply and sanitation systems, Kuala Lumpur, WHO Western Pacific Regional Office	Organized by WHO/EHP (Environmental Health Programme), Kuala Lumpur, 21-25 August 1995 WHO, EHP, Italy
National workshop on operation maintenance and management of water supply and sanitation systems, DNA, Mozambique	Maputo, Mozambique, 26-28 September 1995 SDC/SKAT, Italy, WHO
National workshop on O&M in New Delhi	National conference organized in New Delhi, 25-27 September 1996, after the meeting of the OMWG, 23-24 September 1996. SDC/SKAT, Italy, WB/UNDP, UNICEF

Regional and Country-Level Activities (contd.) - From June 1995

ACTIVITY	STATUS
National workshop on leakage control, Islamabad, Pakistan, organized by WHO's Regional Office for the Eastern Mediterranean	Islamabad, 26-30 November 1995 WHO, Italy
National workshop on management of urban water supply and sanitation systems in Bangladesh	Activity organized by WHO/Bangladesh, Dhaka, 17-18 September 1996 WHO, UNDP/WB, Italy, local ESAs
Participation of the Coordinator of the OMWG at the first meeting of the National Task Force on Operation and Maintenance of Urban Water Supply and Sewerage Systems	Organized by the Ministry of Urban Affairs and Employment of India New Delhi, 4 September 1997
Workshop on management of urban water supply and sanitation systems in China and Vietnam	China: 17-20 March 1997 Vietnam: 25-28 March 1997 WHO/WPRO, Italy
Training course in Eritrea on management of rural WSS; preparation of an action plan on O&M	Training package on management of rural WSS to be used as a source document. Dates not yet defined Italy, WHO
National workshop on O&M in Botswana, Ghana, Kenya, Lesotho, Malawi, Swaziland and Zimbabwe in cooperation with WHO's initiative on AFRICA 2000; preparation of national O&M action plans	Zimbabwe: 25-29 November 1996 Ghana: 12-14 November 1996 Kenya: 21-22 November 1996 Zambia: 21-24 April 1997 Botswana: 16-19 September 1997 Malawi: 23-26 September 1997 Swaziland: 7-10 October 1997 Lesotho: 14-17 October 1997 Sponsorship: Italy, WHO

Regional and Country-Level Activities - From June 1995

ACTIVITY	STATUS
Regional workshop on O&M of water supply and sanitation systems; incorporating O&M concerns into GTZ's projects in Africa	Workshop attended by representatives of GTZ projects 12 African countries. Namibia 19-22 May 1997 GTZ, WHO
Participation of the OMWG at the meeting of the Council's Eastern European Group	The focus of the meeting of the Eastern European Group was on O&M Romania, 14-15 April 1997
Participation of the Coordinator of the OMWG at the Congress of the International Water Supply Association (IWSA), Madrid	IWSA Congress: 20-26 Sept. 97, Presentation on the OMWG: 24 Sept. 1997
Training course on leakage control, organized by ONEP in collaboration with the OMWG. This is a course to be conducted recurrently as part of a comprehensive agreement between WHO and ONEP and will include additional training activities	Morocco, 31 March-11 April 1997; invitations to francophone countries of Africa. Financial support from France ONEP, NANCIE, WHO
Training course on management of O&M of rural water supply and sanitation systems as part of an agreement with the Water and Sanitation Training Institute of Mozambique	Maputo, Mozambique, 3-29 March 1997 Financial support from the Swiss Development Cooperation. IRC, SDC, WHO

Involvement of Training Centres in O&M Activities

ACTIVITY	STATUS
Establishment of training courses in Mozambique on O&M at the DNA's training centre, as follow-up to the Regional O&M workshop on the lusophone initiative	Training of trainers for the establishment of courses on management of rural systems, leakage control, and management of urban systems. The first course on management of rural systems took place in March 1997 WHO, IRC, UNDP/WB
Establishment of training courses at ONEP as a cooperative effort between WHO, OMWG, ONEP, IRC	Establishment of courses at ONEP, Morocco, for trainers, on leakage control and management of rural WSS, to be offered to African countries. First course on leakage control took place from 31 March to 11 April 1997
Establishment of training courses at environmental health centres in Indonesia and Thailand	Under discussion with Dr Magara, Institute of Public Health, Japan

Working Group Operations - From June 1995

ACTIVITY	STATUS
O&M network	Database prepared by CERFE. Updating of members ongoing.
Promotion of O&M	Ongoing
Preparation of promotional posters	Two posters prepared
Promotional document for policy- makers	Document available
Fliers on the O&M tools	Five fliers prepared.
Core group meeting of the OMWG	26-28 February 1997
Global Forum of the Water Supply and Sanitation Collaborative Council	Manila, Philippines, 3-7 November 1997